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Interviewer, Interviewee

Interviewer:
-- 1979.  This is Rae Ann Kramer and Peggy Jemison on the Vollintine Evergreen Neighborhood Public Policy Project, sponsored by Metropolitan Interface Association.  We are on a grant from the Tennessee Committee for the Humanities.

Today we are interviewing Mr. A.W. Willis.

I was looking for our little --

Interviewer:
Wait, you just turned it on.

Interviewer:
So we want to talk to you this morning a little bit about Valentine Courts Apartment and ask if you will tell us just a little bit of the history of this as you know it.

A.W. Willis:
Yes.  Well, our company, Supreme Mortgage and Realty Company, is the co-mortgagee sponsoring the – cosponsoring the project with Morning Star Holiness Church.
[0:01:00]

That’s the owner of the property.  They have applied for Section 8 assistance through Department of Housing.  They’re going to develop it.  That’s about two years ago.  And the project ran into almost every conceivable problem in the process that you could have.  The problems were mostly having to do with economics of the project.  And regionally, the architecture drew the project to comply with all the HUD guidelines.  And local HUD thought it would be a good project to make a showcase project out of it.

And they asked to sponsor, would he go back and add some kind of amenities that would be beyond the guidelines.  But what enhanced it, the project to make it a special project.  The project was unusual in that most rehabs of that size, there was a garden type walk up the gardens.  
[0:02:00]

This one was built more like a townhouse and permitted the possibility of putting courtyards, private yards around each unit, which would enhance the value of it and the – also the looks of it.

And being on a major street like Watkins and bound by two corners, it’s sort of – I understand a lot of traffic goes down there because every one of the main arteries that are going towards Frayser.

After that was done, we had a personnel change, and the officer shipped it to Nashville.  And the next person that took over did not quite see it that way, and he wanted to go back to the original plans, which were just about minimum required by HUD guidelines.  And meanwhile, the project was deteriorating.  
[0:03:00]

The church had thought the project was started in two years ago in March, and it had vacated the tenants.  Because otherwise you had to give tenants notice your intention to convert the project, and they had to be relocated.  And of course it had to be known whether the tenants were going to stay there and be located by the church, relocated by the church.  In that case, that money had to be added to the project in order to assist those folk in moving.  But instead the folks just moved on the own.  A lot of them want the MHA, and MHA, if you move something, 20 or 30 of them.

Interviewer:
Was it pretty well occupied at the time?

A.W. Willis:
Yeah, it was about – well, let’s see, about 80 percent occupied.

Interviewer:
May I ask who owned that property originally?  Do you know way back when it was built and who it was built by and who owned it?

A.W. Willis:
I’m not sure.  We were looking for the plans, original plans.  
[0:04:00]

Seems like Clark and Fay built the project.

Interviewer:
Do you know when?

A.W. Willis:
Oh, 28 years ago.

Interviewer:
It was a 608 project then.

A.W. Willis:
Yeah, 608.  And they built it.  And we finally found the property original drawings, so that saved a lot of time in preparing the project.  You could find the original drawing because the instructions had not changed.  The floor plans had been the same.  So that sped everything up in the process.

Otherwise, you would have had to redraw all that and reproduce them as it is on paper when you found those.  And I don’t know.  Some corporation owned it.  <unclear>Either</unclear> let me see.  I believe Connecticut.  I don’t know.

Interviewer:
Bought it from Clark and Fay.  

A.W. Willis:
I don’t know.  Clark and Fay probably would have built it.  They may have sold the project at that time.  I really don’t know.  I just try to reveal that.  It was about a year before the church got it.  It was a foreclosed property.

Interviewer:
And who foreclosed?

[0:05:00]
A.W. Willis:
HUD was foreclosing.  The people that <unclear>surrounded</unclear> the property, as I understand – this is just hearsay because I haven’t checked this out.  After 28 years, the depreciation has gone, and whoever bought it – the business has not interest in it.  So they refused to pay the payment, and HUD started the foreclosure.

Somebody found and bought the corporation and thereby paid HUD off and later on sold it to the church.  The church proceeded to --

Interviewer:
Who found the foreclosure and sold --

A.W. Willis:
Oh, no, that’s public knowledge.  I mean, a foreclosure is public record.
Interviewer:
Oh, so – well, who did that?

A.W. Willis:
HUD.

Interviewer:
Oh, HUD foreclosed.

A.W. Willis:
Yeah, Rule 608.  They never really did <unclear>finish the--</unclear>
Interviewer:
The church bought it from HUD?

A.W. Willis:
No, no, no.  The church bought it from people that bought it after foreclosure.

Interviewer:
Oh, well, who bought it in foreclosure?

A.W. Willis:
I don’t know precisely because when we got in it, it was a company agent by the name of – a real estate company was in it – if there were for principles they weren’t disclosed. I don’t know who they were.

Begin Segment 2 [00:06:04:28] 
Interviewer:
You don’t know whether it was Memphis group or --

A.W. Willis:
Oh, yeah, they were Memphis people, but a real estate company representing the corporation, when the corporation deeds it; it deeds itself, the corporation.  And the stockholders just aren’t known.

Interviewer:
What corporation?

A.W. Willis:
Whatever one was down on record.  That’d be on public record.  Somebody just bought the corporation, which owned the property.  When you buy a corporation that owned the property, the stockholders not necessarily a – would be – there’s no reason they should reveal all the names of the stockholders.  That’s not important in a legal transaction.  So the corporation had some name like Valentine Courts Inc.  And that could be – any number of people could change hands in the time, as long as all the stock in the corporation kept transferring.  The real owners would never be shown, and that’s true in any corporation.  So I don’t really have that.

Interviewer:
So that’s never in public record?

[0:07:00]
A.W. Willis:
Not who the stockholders are.

Interviewer:
I see.

A.W. Willis:
The corporation is a public record, and that could be anybody.

Interviewer:
Pays the taxes and all that.

A.W. Willis:
Sure.  It could be somebody to – it could be John Smith today and Mary Jones tomorrow as long as you could transfer this stock without transferring this one – people use the corporation because it’s an easy way to transfer property.  Under the old 608 projects, you formed a corporation for every project.  And so the transferability of them were quite easy.  So you could have done a series of all those, even the people in Kentucky – I mean, Connecticut.

I’m not sure they were the original owner. I just remember the conversation say they bought it from the people in Kentucky.  That’s insignificant when somebody’s buying and selling in real estate business really.  It doesn’t make a difference who holds the property.

Anyway, the church started to rehab the property, only–
Interviewer:
And that was about ’77.

A.W. Willis:
It was about two years ago, yeah.

Interviewer:
Seventy-seven.

A.W. Willis:
And they spent about $70,000.00 and went as far as they could go and really were doing quite well with it.  They were making a lot of progress.  
[0:08:00]

They cut the grass, and they’re weeding, and they painted a building.

Interviewer:
But nobody was living in there.

A.W. Willis:
Oh, yeah, it was 85 percent occupied.

Interviewer:
Okay.

A.W. Willis:
And when they bought it it was 80 percent occupied.  I mean, it probably never been empty until they emptied it probably until anticipating the HUD Section 8 program.  Other than that, the property’s always been occupied as far as I know.

Interviewer:
Were the occupants mainly blacks or whites?

A.W. Willis:
Mainly black.  There may have been two white – two or three white families living in the project.

Interviewer:
Almost black.

A.W. Willis:
Yeah, just about completely black.  And it was – the property was in pretty bad shape.  It needed some repairs.  It was the perfect kind of project for a Section 8 rehabilitation or any kind of rehabilitation.  That particular one is good because you can get it financed because the government guarantees the rent during the period of 20 to 40 years, and that makes the project easier to finance.  So that would have been what was supposed to take place.
[0:09:00]

Well, I say it went through a series of maneuvers in the hood.  HUD.  First they changed the plans to upgrade the project, which everybody was very pleased with at HUD.  Usually you get the static the other way around.  They’ll say you’re putting too much in the project.  You’re spending too much of the taxpayer’s money.  Usually that’s what, but this was unusual that the HUD local office said, no, we want to make a showplace out of it.  So the architect went back to the drawing board to do it.

To do that, however, it took a rent increase.  It took the maximum rent allowed in order to be able to amortize the debt because there had been a rent increase, and we were assured that that would be no problem.  But I said the management -- 

Interviewer:
What were the rents at that point?

A.W. Willis:
Oh, $225.00 to $240.00, something like that.  I don’t know.

Interviewer:
Is what they were paying?

A.W. Willis:
Oh, no, before the project got to be a HUD project? No, $125.00 a month.

Interviewer:
Oh, so they were really going to almost double it.

A.W. Willis:
Yeah.  

[0:10:00]


The project was estimated to cost $3 million to renovate.  And it was really a complete – basically everything was being redone.  I mean, the line was being reworked, the plumbing was being reworked, all new appliances and kitchen cabinets.  All the floors being refinished and carpeted.  All the windows were to be replaced with new thermal pane windows, new roof.  Just totally rebuilt.  Just totally rebuilt.  And really it cost just about as much to do it as it was to tear it down, almost.

Begin Segment 3 [00:10:39:03]
Interviewer:
Okay.  So then it got fouled up in HUD.

A.W. Willis:
Yeah.  Well, one thing or another, it gets to be kind of technical because first they’re changing the plans.  Then they changed back to the old plans.  Then they refused, the HUD, to increase the rent.  Then the cost escalation that caused you to have to get more rent.  
[0:11:01]

And then an appeal to the regional office.  Then an appeal to Washington.  It’s a long, drawn-out process.  

And actually the appeal to Washington finally ended about a month ago with no good news.  So it’s taken all this time for the project to go through all of the appeals.  When they sponsors thought that the HUD people were being unreasonable, an we still do.  But nevertheless, it went up to about the top level, almost to the secretary, almost to the under secretary’s office, which is about as high as you can go with an appeal, other than court.  And they refused to do what the sponsor wanted done in order to make the project gone.

So that means now the project is in a position where a commitment has been issued for rent.  They would not do the project originally like the sponsor had hoped but will rehabilitate the project.  We’ll still spend – well, almost $3 million on the project.  
[0:12:04]

If we had to go the old route and use the changed plans that HUD suggested originally, it would probably cost $4 million with the cost of prices.

What has happened is that they’ve gotten a slight increase and the maximum amount of the mortgage cost has arisen in the last two years.  So the project is back doing it at a minimum.  Now, the minimum, of course, is pretty extensive.

Interviewer:
Particularly now with further vandalization.
A.W. Willis:
Yeah, and of course when the project ran into bad luck, it got first the vacating of the project, which was a bad move, but the church figured that – the church had to let the tenants know what was going on, and the tenants chose to move rather than to get all messed up with the government trying to help them move.  They just moved on their own.  So they left the project vacant.

Interviewer:
And when was that about?  Was that in ’78?

[0:13:00]
A.W. Willis:
That was – yeah, that would have been the early part of it.  It would have been, like, February of ’78.

Interviewer:
And almost everybody moved at once.  They just went.

A.W. Willis:
Yeah, they did.  It was like a fever.  Everybody starts moving.  I guess some of them went to MHA and got relocated under the special priority.  MHA has authority to recognize hardship cases and all these people getting put out or will be getting put out pretty soon.  Then, of course, MHA helps in that case, and they relocated a lot of them.  And a lot of them moved on their own.  Most of them did, just went to buy them another apartment.  They left.  They left the church with vacant apartments.

So every month it was hoped that the thing would close and that you could go ahead and close it, and at this point money would be available to fence it in, and the contractor would take over.  And he would make a – he would do the necessary containing to contain the property to stop more deterioration.  Because he had the problem, the responsibility once the thing closes.  Then the contractor is on the hook.

[0:14:00]

So he immediately moved to do all the things that he’s supposed to do to try to protect the property.  And it drug on.  And of course they had a fire.  Then they had another fire and the two buildings got burned.  One was during the – the police, the firemen strike I guess it was.  As a matter of fact firemen burnt the building down, and they’ve been convicted.

Interviewer:
And you do have evidence of that?

A.W. Willis:
Oh, they’re in jail.

Interviewer:
The firemen are in jail?

A.W. Willis:
Yes, they’ve been convicted.  They’re in jail for arson.

Interviewer:
And --

A.W. Willis:
There’s no question about who burnt one – one of them burnt one of the buildings down.  The other building is arson, but they haven't caught the person, or at least there’s been no prosecution, as far as I know, and no convictions certainly of who burnt the other building down.  One of the buildings down, those two firemen are currently serving time.

Interviewer:
Do you remember their names?

A.W. Willis:
Again, all that’s public information.
[0:15:00]
Interviewer:
Yeah.  Right.

A.W. Willis:
It was in the papers too.  I just don’t recall them offhand.

With that bad luck and that set the project back a bit.  It was impossible to get any insurance on the project.  No insurance company would touch it in the state of repair.  And finally the city would prevail upon it to go ahead and try to help because it wasn’t a targeted <unclear></unclear>.  It was <unclear>two</unclear> really.

Interviewer:
In community development.

A.W. Willis:
So they put the fence around it to stop further deterioration.  Because we went through the winter, and the weather doesn’t help in projects like that.  There’s been a considerable amount of vandalism in the project after it was vacated and after the fire.  

 
Begin Segment 4 [00:16:10:05]
Interviewer:
So you say though in the last month though it’s just come to an end?

A.W. Willis:
No.  Last month HUD has finally agreed not to do – to give the relief the church wanted, which was primarily increasing the rent substantially.

Interviewer:
Mm-hmm.

A.W. Willis:
Taking them up to the fair-market published rent.  I mean, HUD publishes a set of rent as a guideline, but they don’t – this is the national HUD office.  The local HUD office has the discretion to use that and make it fit the particular neighborhood because the appeal was based on that they didn’t appraise it right.  The sponsors had his own independent appraisal, and our appraisal shows that it’s not done right.  But it moves from one – it moves from Memphis to Knoxville to Atlanta to Washington, and you get a whole bureaucratic static.  

[0:17:06]

And we get the feeling that you get each level protecting the other level as opposed to really overturning it.  And then each level is HUD’s side of the story.  And what those people are reviewing is reviewing their own inside, it’s like monitoring themselves.  And they don’t go too much outside of their own staff to prove it.  So you’re sort of at a disadvantage when you're appealing through the administrative process with HUD, unless you ran into somebody who just said I just don’t believe – I believe the people down there are making a mistake, and they start looking around for evidence to the contrary.

But unless they believe that, then they tend to base their findings on what the last man found.  And each one keeps documenting the others, sort of covering the other’s skirts.  And, therefore, you really can’t get into the <unclear>matter</unclear> unless you went to court.  

[0:18:02]

Now, this is the long, drawn-out, expensive process.  In that case, of course, you've got to write – you've got everybody under oath, and somebody put some information that we think they won’t be so anxious to write that down.  If it’s under oath they can’t back it up, and you get a whole different kind of a trial.

Interviewer:
Do you think it will go to court?

A.W. Willis:
No, I don’t think it will go to court because the – we worked out a way to close the project within the dollars that HUD is allowing.

Interviewer:
This is a new plan.

A.W. Willis:
Yes.  Well, yes, it’s a new approach to it.

Interviewer:
Okay.

A.W. Willis:
And we’ve got that worked out.  Now, the church gets hurt a lot and it’s responsible. It virtually has to sell the project and come out with nothing.  <unclear>But what it has to</unclear> stand, the church is standing on a lot of – the church owes a lot of money against the project.
[0:19:00]

That if it – if the lenders and current mortgages foreclose and take a judgment against the church, it will just wipe the church out.  So the church’s choice is let the project go and get out of it and just sell the whole project off to people that are buying the tax shelters.  Sell the whole project.  Payoff everybody and get it built, so it becomes somebody’s project.
Interviewer:
Mm-hmm.

A.W. Willis:
But it’s not what the church had in mind.  The church would have lost the $70,000.00 they put in it, plus the money they put in – I mean, the rehab money plus the money they put in when they bought it.  So they were – their loss would be extensive.  But it’s not like losing debt.  They’ve already lost debt.  And to come back and get judgments leveled against the church itself, you know, the church could – because it signed the mortgages.  The church did sign all the mortgages when they bought the property, and they’re still liable for all of that.

[0:19:58]  

For example, the utility bill, $8,000.00 hanging on the church because the utility company doesn’t have a lien, legal lien.  But it does have a policy that it can follow the homeowner, the user of electricity, the gas, whatever services.  So it’ll follow you all around.  And the net effect of that would be to put the $8,000.00 back utility bill on the church.

Interviewer:
Now, the church doesn’t own the whole project though does it?  Don’t they only own -- 

A.W. Willis:
No, the church only owned – the church has gotten options on it.  They are the controlling body.

Interviewer:
I see.  Are they the only sponsor?  The church is the only sponsor.

A.W. Willis:
Yes, the church is the only sponsor.

Interviewer:
The only sponsor.

A.W. Willis:
Yeah.

Interviewer:
And it owns half of the property.

A.W. Willis:
It owns half now, but it controls the legal option.  Now, we stepped in and bought the side.  They had an option on the other side, and they didn’t pay it off timely to the man who had it.  After it happened, a fellow bought it named Williams.  Bought the property on the east side of the street. 

[0:21:00]
Interviewer:
Who is Williams?

A.W. Willis:
I don’t know.  Just an energetic fellow around town.  I think he works at – cook at the hospital.  He bought it.  And he got the – what happened to him was he got the backlash of the church’s activity.  And the church made an announcement that it was going to rehab it and its tenants would move.  All of his tenants moved too.  They moved across the street.  And they – everybody thinks of the projects as one.  And in fact they’re developed as one, though in two different tracks.

And he caught the brunt, and he just gave up.  And then he told the church that he was selling his interest.  And then finally he just threw up both hands.  When that happened we set in motion a foreclosure so the church could get it because he had agreed to sell it to the church just to get out of it.  But he got so disgusted that he just walked on off.  Couldn’t find him and he wasn't available.  And we needed to get on the ship immediately because the church has to be able to prove its got land control, that’s what they call it.

[0:22:00]

Either you've got title or you've got a contract or you've got an option to buy.  So we moved, foreclosed, then gave the church the option they needed, so the church then controlled both sides of the street.  That’s the case now.  The church still controls, and where the title is doesn’t really make any difference.

Begin Segment 5 [00:22:20:08]
Interviewer:
But it’s still under option to the church.

A.W. Willis:
Yeah, so they closed it.  And the option is simply just to pay the mortgages off.

Interviewer:
So now let’s see where we are now.  You've got a new plan, which will mean the church will have to lose their interest.

A.W. Willis:
Yeah, they will sponsor it and then syndicate it.  And then they’ll get enough money to pay off its creditors hopefully.  If it doesn’t get enough to pay off, it’ll pay off as much as – as far as it will go.

Interviewer:
And HUD has approved this plan.

A.W. Willis:
Yeah.  Well, see, HUD had already issued a commitment, and we would – we were applealing from HUD’s firm.  
[0:23:01]

They issued a firm commitment.  So the church could always close.  It’s just they didn’t have cash to close.

Interviewer:
I see.  So now – so now they have made arrangements to sell it simultaneously at the closing so that they raise additional dollars for people that are buying tax shelters.

Interviewer:
I see.  To the syndication.

A.W. Willis:
Yeah.  And that way they get enough cash to pay off – one of the unfortunate things that happened to the church was that HUD didn’t go out to make its official appraisal until some eight, nine months later, and it was assumed that all of this was taken because there was never any question of as-is value of the property.  Now there’s a serious question of as-is value because HUD’s recent value is based on what you see now, which was not enough to even pay the mortgages.  

But at the time the church took over the property, I had no doubt that <unclear>there was anybody appraising</unclear> would appraise it enough to pay the debts.  That’s no problem.  

[0:23:56]

But when you lose all the windows, the doors, all the sinks and all the commodes, plus the wind damage and rain damage, then the units get burnt – somebody stole all of the hand railings, that’s just $20,000.00 by itself, just one little item, the hand railings in the buildings.  And then you couldn’t replace it with the same type.  You’d have to get some cheaper railings.  When you have that kind of vandalism, people cutting plumbing pipes that are perfectly good just to get the copper.

And then when somebody appraises it, they come up with one figure in that condition.  But had you appraised it immediately when the church filed the application, which is what everybody assumed it did because there was never any question about that until we got down to the final commitment some five, six, eight months later, then HUD comes up and says, hey, we’ve got to go appraise this property.  And the church gets called in that.

So that was one basically one of the appeals that the church lost on.
[0:25:00]

The church’s argument that the as-is value ought to be retroactive to the date of the application when HUD had full knowledge of all the papers, and we have no way to control them when we send all the appraisals out, that you control.  You control that.

Interviewer:
That lost in the appeal?

A.W. Willis:
Yeah, that lost.  HUD would not agree to do that.  It’ll not agree to do that.  And then the other thing was that the rent, they would not agree to increase the rent, and that’s based on market.  This is a peculiar way of doing a rehab.  It doesn’t really make too much sense.  They publish rents that are fair for the area based on <unclear>sort of an</unclear> average of all the apartment units in the city.  That comes up pretty high.

Then when they get ready to do a specific project, they go back to the precise neighborhood, and they look at comparable properties in that neighborhood to set the rent.  Well, it costs, it really doesn’t make any difference where you had a project in the city.
[0:26:00]

Bricks cost the same.  Cement costs the same.  Roofing costs the same.  And it’s really unreal because the rent itself is being paid anyway by the government, and it really doesn’t make any difference what it is.  I mean, it’s like the – take the high rise for the elderly buildings.  They’re new.  And those rent for $300.00.  Now, there is no way you can get $300.00 a month for those units just off the streets.

The reason you get $300.00 is that the government is paying most of it, and in some cases, all of it.  And you can get it, I mean, you've got a waiting list.  But you take away a subsidy, and our rent – so the rents would have to fall in the high-rise buildings, or you'll be sitting there with most of them vacant a long time.  And even if you pull, assuming some of them are in better locations, even assuming you could pull people that could pay $300.00 a month, you’d have to come up with a great many more amenities than they give you in a high-rise for the elderly.

[0:27:06]

You’d have to have a swimming pool, a tennis court.  You’d have to – well, you’d have to look at some of the other buildings.  And if you look at those other buildings, the nice-looking buildings and they got all the necessities in them, but they’re under luxuries, and the people would pay $300.00 a month or better for.  They just aren’t there.

And the same thing is true with a project like this in this neighborhood.  It’d be difficult to get $285.00 a month for those units in that neighborhood.  And that’s what HUD is saying.
Interviewer:
Will this be subsidized, the rent?  Will your rent be subsidized?

A.W. Willis:
Yes, all the rent is subsidized.

Interviewer:
This, your project, Vollintine Evergreen Court –
[Crosstalk] 

A.W. Willis:
This is Section 8.  It’s the same thing as a Section 8 that we’ve been--
Interviewer:
Dealing with. Okay.  Well, if we – then you have hopes that it is going to be settled, and that --

A.W. Willis:
Oh, yeah, I’m almost certain it’s going to be settled now.  And actually all the machines are in place to get that done.

[0:28:00]
Interviewer:
And when – by what date are you projecting?

A.W. Willis:
Well, we got a closing date that a few details are being worked on now to put in the mechanics of the closing.  I would think you’re talking about closing somewhere around September.  When it closes that means all the <unclear>pay’s</unclear> in place, and the contractor goes to work, and it’s 15, 16 months away before the building will be occupied.

Begin Segment 6 [00:28:30:15]
Interviewer:
And what will Supreme Mortgage’s role be in --

A.W. Willis:
Oh, no more.  Our role was to help walk the church through the HUD process.

Interviewer:
Mm-hmm.

A.W. Willis:
Which we have been involved in.  We were co-mortgagees with the company.  At that time we got involved with it, we had never done one of these projects.  And we went and got somebody that had and joined ventures with them.  So the records would indicate that they are the record company because HUD doesn’t like two companies.

[0:29:00]

But we had our agreement together with that company.

Interviewer:
Was that Universal Life?

A.W. Willis:
No, no.  Universal Life is rolled in it is they originally financed the purchase of the project for the church.  And so they’ve been the good guys that could get hurt if the church doesn’t pay off.  Because ordinarily no lender would have sit there two years.  It’d take the property away from church.  Now, Universal can develop the project instantly.  They don’t need any help.  But to do that they’d have to take the church out of it, and Universal wanted to give the church all an opportunity to develop the project.  

And like I said, it has been more than generous on the waiting period.  But even now, they can’t wait no longer.  So it’s got to close one way or the other in the next few months.  Universal will take the project and just develop it.  

Now, they aren’t in the business developing property, so they’re not interested in this sort of thing.  They were only interested in the investment angle of it from the standpoint of the mortgage – making a long-term mortgage, and that’s their only interest in it.  And once they’re paid off they’re out of it and through with it.
[0:30:00]

So most companies, as far as I know, would have closed the church down in six months, just took the project.  I suppose looking in hindsight they probably would have never gotten in the shape it’s in had Universal did this.  But again, it was trying to – nobody had – nobody believed that thing could drag on this long.  It was just inconceivable.  From our point of view, HUD was just dead wrong and we still think so.

Interviewer:
So who is the other company then?  You said that the other company --

A.W. Willis:
Oh, US Mortgage in Cleveland.

Interviewer:
US Mortgage in Cleveland?

A.W. Willis:
Mm-hmm.

Interviewer:
Okay.  Well, I noticed the architect designers are a company out of Cleveland also.

A.W. Willis:
Yeah, what we did – what the church did, at the time we did this project, nobody had done a rehab on the HUD guidelines here at that time.  It was subsequently.  I don’t know whether anybody done one now.  Not really completed.  There have been two – at least two awarded since then, but nobody had ever done it.

[0:31:00]

So the church was looking for somebody that could package the whole arrangement, and it got this company out of Cleveland that had the resources, the architecture, the finance sources, the mortgage sources, all of it.  And they came down and got with us, and they put the arrangement together.  They had done 40 or 50 projects all over the country.  They had people active.

There’s only probably a handful of specialists that do this sort of thing almost daily.  <gap></gap> that financed it.  They're teaming up with a contractor, <unclear>I think that the main thing</unclear> was the contractor.  And the <unclear>ones that was with</unclear> the church, the same type team was doing it.

So it was not unusual to see people work in teams on this, the architect the buildings are moving.  And then once you get a certain kind of expertise and the rehab was a new brand.  That was the reason <unclear>for me to go out of town</unclear>.  I understand somebody’s put them together now.

[0:32:01]
Interviewer:
Yeah, but this is kind of an unusual project though for a small church, isn’t it?  You keep talking about the church.  Is it the board of directors that you deal with?

A.W. Willis:
Of the church?

Interviewer:
Yeah.

A.W. Willis:
They have trustees, some eight or nine people.  And for the most part the minister speaks for the board, and he has authority, we have to have resolutions.  It’s not unusual at all.  As a matter of fact, all over country, churches have been sponsoring these projects because in the beginning HUD has blown hot and cold in this matter.  Sometimes they push nonprofits.  And again, sometimes they push profits.  But for nonprofits, the cost – for example, for a nonprofit, the mortgage HUD finance 95 percent.

[0:33:03]

For a profit group, only – I’m sorry, 90 percent.  So a profit group HUD will only finance 95 percent.  So even that.

Interviewer:
You mean they’ll finance more, or just the reverse?

A.W. Willis:
It’s just reversed, right.

Interviewer:
They’ll finance less.
A.W. Willis:
Yeah.  That’s a for-profit group, which means that the emphasis there, they’re pushing it towards nonprofits.  And that’s been the history of these when you look at the – look through all of this.  The church ends up a nonprofit, and the only reason it’s the church is because the church is nonprofit.  These transactions of structured business to appeal to the business people, they’re designed for folks to take advantage of the depreciation.

For example, any syndications, rich people will buy shares in it.  

[0:33:59]

And quite frequently, at the end of the depreciation, and they accelerated it just five or seven years, they’re just giving the project away.  They don’t even want a part of it.  They just give it away.

Interviewer:
Who is going to do your syndication on this?

A.W. Willis:
The same company – same people out of Cleveland.

Interviewer:
Okay.

A.W. Willis:
The Cleveland Group.

Interviewer:
Okay.  And do you have any other property in the neighborhood or does Supreme have mortgages on any other major properties?

A.W. Willis:
In which neighborhood now?

Interviewer:
This is the VECA  neighborhood. 
A.W. Willis:
It would be – if we did it would be – I’m sure we do.  It would be nothing more than a duplex.  Looking at it quickly, I don’t even know if we do or not.  But that’s all it would be, a single family residence.
Begin Segment 7 [00:34:56:27]
Interviewer:
What attitude does your firm take to this neighborhood?  Do you think it’s a good risk?

A.W. Willis:
Oh, yeah.  We think the neighborhood’s good, we think that that particular piece of property is a choice location.  We would have no difficulty investing in that neighborhood at all.  Anywhere in it.
Interviewer:
And so people can get financing then in the neighborhood.
A.W. Willis:
Oh, yes, of course.  Now with the community developers there, even for the rundown and hopeless cases, you've now got the possibility of doing those because it will be a 3 percent advantage in the interest rate.  That neighborhood, there’s no reason for it to do anything but go up.

Interviewer:
All right.  Well, if you could talk to us just a little bit about your house that you’ve bought in Hein Park.  Can you tell us your address and when you bought it?

A.W. Willis:
I have to think about the address.

Interviewer:
It’s West, well it’s on West Drive.

A.W. Willis:
Yeah, it’s 700 block on West Drive.

[0:36:00]
Interviewer:
What prompted you to pick that house, you know, the neighborhoods?  What attracted to Hein Park?

A.W. Willis:
Well, I live currently at 196 East Parkway South.  And that – and I don’t want to live outside the parkway.  I wouldn’t move beyond North Parkway or East Parkway.  Neither would I go east – I mean, west any further than South Parkway.  I wouldn’t go north much farther than where I am. That’s just convenient for me.  I’m not, by any stretch of an imagination, anything close to a <unclear>celebrity</unclear>.  That’s too far as far as I’m concerned.

But you've got to draw some lines, and those are the lines we drew when I bought my house two years ago.  That was the same criteria, and it’s less – it’s more – now I feel strongly about being close in than I did then.

[0:37:00]

Because three years ago, two years ago, I bought in ’75, the emphasis on getting back wasn’t quite as crystal clear as it is now, the advantage of being in.  It was clear to me, and that’s why we wanted to <unclear>move out</unclear> from there. When I clocked it, it’s like ten minutes to work.  And Union Avenue, I often told my wife it was a great street.  You can just find anything on there, from cradle to grave on Union Avenue.  If you can’t find it on Union Avenue you don’t need it.

I can do all my shopping from North Parkway to downtown on anything I think I can buy.  You can buy a car.  You can get buried there.  You can go to church there.  You can get all the grocers, the two big supermarkets there.  Clothing store is there.  Paint stores.  Anything.  Art supply stores.  Almost anything if you go down the street and start thinking about it.
[0:38:00]

There’s an amazing number – a variety of things on Union Avenue.  Couple of restaurants.
Interviewer:
Now, it was – you said you just bought your other house two years ago.  Are you buying a larger home or a smaller home?

A.W. Willis:
No a smaller home.  We buying down.  The house I live in now is 6,000 square feet.  And the one I bought is 2,800 I guess.  And then of that 2,800, there’s a huge room, den, I guess taking up 800 of it.  So it’s about a third of the size of the one I have now.

Interviewer:
So do you have grown children now, no children at home?

A.W. Willis:
Yeah, all the children are out.

Interviewer:
Tell us about your family.

A.W. Willis:
Well, I got two families.  My <unclear>blood</unclear> family have five children, the baby is 15 and my daughter is 29, and they go the five there.  They live with their mother around the parkway right around the corner from me.  
[0:39:00]

They come over.  They’ve got two homes, but essentially their residence is around the corner about three minutes from where I live now, so I really don’t have to – they come over and spend the night when I get ready, and they come in and out and swim in the pool and all that sort of, in and out, save a place for them at the table.  But essentially I don’t need the space for it, even though I had it.  I got six bedrooms.  So they want to come in, do whatever they want, just move from house to house like they feel like.  But the baby is 15.

My wife’s children, the baby is 14, and she’s at home <unclear>and will</unclear> be here next year.  The other, all the rest of them, <unclear>you have</unclear> two are still in college.  One is – he’s in master’s studies, so I’ve got three out of the way in college.  So my wife’s children –

[0:40:01]
Interviewer:
These are your blood children?

A.W. Willis:
Yeah, my children.  Yeah.

Interviewer:
Okay.

A.W. Willis:
Yeah, and on the other side one is out of college.  He work for the bank here, so he will be – he’s out on his own.  The daughter graduates in December.

Interviewer:
And where is she in school?

A.W. Willis:
She’s in school in Simmons in Boston, but she graduated early, and she will be out.  Hopefully she gets a job.  She’s in fashion design, so there’s a good possibility that she’s going to be living with us.  Not too many opportunity in Memphis.

Interviewer:
Right.

A.W. Willis:
Most of them are on the East Coast or West Coast.  In fact, she may be abroad because she spent some time abroad.  She speaks Spanish fluently.  She did her internship in Spain, and there’s a good chance she may involved on an international level.

Interviewer:
Good.

A.W. Willis:
At any rate, we expect to see her on <unclear>location as a</unclear> visitor.  So there’s no reason to have anything except to take care of that <unclear>sort of thing</unclear> when she comes back to visit.
Begin Segment 8 [00:41:00:24]

The other girl in college is a second year.  So there’s only one at home for a six bedroom.

Interviewer:
So you really --

A.W. Willis:
In fact, we’ve been thinking this way all along.  When we bought the house we should have bought at the same time.  With the price – what happened to the price, I just didn’t believe they were going to go up that fast.

Interviewer:
So you’re now trying to sell your house on Parkway.

A.W. Willis:
Yeah, we just started selling it last week.

Interviewer:
And you’re going to stay there until you sell it and before you move in.

A.W. Willis:
Right now, as it worked out, Rosalyn, my daughter, is living there because her house needed a major renovation, and she’d been toying with the idea of moving out of it anyhow.  So this – when she saw I had two, she just moved in immediately and started fixing hers up.

Interviewer:
Now where is her house?

A.W. Willis:
On Buntyn Street.

Interviewer:
Now Rosalyn is married.  What is her married name?

A.W. Willis:
Ilunga.

Interviewer:
Ilunga is her married name.  And then she had the little girl.

A.W. Willis:
Yes.

Interviewer:
So that’s your first grandchild.

A.W. Willis:
First grandchild.

Interviewer:
And she went to Parson’s School of Design.

A.W. Willis:
And the University of California and Berkeley to get her master’s.

[0:42:04]
Interviewer:
And of course she’s got her business <unclear>Boxers Trees</unclear>.
A.W. Willis:
Mm-hmm.

Interviewer:
Concentrating in design there.

A.W. Willis:
Yeah.  She’s trying to fit all that high-powered education to the ghetto situation.  It’s quite a task.  The dollars just aren’t there.  That’s some of the things you learn in Parson’s and some of the landscaping she learned in Berkeley.

Interviewer:
Is she getting discouraged about it?

A.W. Willis:
No, she’s not.  As a matter of fact, it’s a good place to practice because it really forces you to deal with clients and people’s needs.  You’re going to be doing with poor people on a limited budget.  You've got to get creative.  They’ve only got so much money, and it’s not like going for a wealthy client that says I want this fixed up right.  Then you can go and look at your books and all of the fancy materials and plants, and miracle plants, and you can really put it into force.
[0:43:00]

When you start trying to fix up or marketing a $20,000.00 bracket, you don’t have much money.  I mean, a $20,000.00 house bracket.  <unclear>You don’t have much</unclear> house to begin with, or what little there is.  She can deal with colors, and it doesn’t cost much more to paint one color with another one.  So there’s stretch a little bit that way.  And to that extent it’s very interesting.  And it gives you – it makes you start thinking and get a little creative, which if you did get wealthy client, they also like to save money too.  They may have it, but I find that people with a lot of money --

Interviewer:
Is her husband in this business too?

A.W. Willis:
No, he’s a writer.  He’s a writer.  That’s one of her big problems because he keeps having to get bounced from New York to Hollywood, back and forth, and then he gets sent this way into Memphis very little.  Like he’s here now, and he’ll be gone three weeks --

Interviewer:
What is his name?

A.W. Willis:
His name is Adell Ilunga.  
[0:44:00]

He used to write for – I don’t know too many – he writes movie scripts and TV scripts.  One of the ones he wrote for a long time was Sanford & Son.  That one he wrote on that show, but now I think he’s doing the movies.  But anyway, the action is all in L.A. or New York.  

And they get very generous sort of breaks in between stories.  Like he’ll be back in three weeks, and then he’ll be here a month.  He’ll do some writing, he’ll do creative writing while he’s here, working on a project.  But as soon as they start shooting, whether it be TV or radio, then he just goes back to edit something, write out something.  So he keeps a – not the best relationship for them.  Memphis is, again, <unclear>has a</unclear> sort of opportunity.

Interviewer:
It’s a new kind of marriage situation.

A.W. Willis:
Yeah.

Interviewer:
Well, let me ask you this, did you run into any difficulties buying your house in Hein Park?  
[0:45:00]

Did you have any bad reactions or good reaction?

A.W. Willis:
Oh, no, no.  I just walked over and bought it.

Interviewer:
Walked in, bought it and that was it.

Interviewer:
Who did you buy your house from?  Whose house was it?

A.W. Willis:
Let me see.  I didn’t know the people.  I think their name was Webber though.  He was a doctor, and he was moving farther out east into a bigger house.  They had plans for their family, so he was moving out of a smaller house into a larger house.  Around Galloway or something like that.
Interviewer:
Do you mind telling us what you paid for it?

A.W. Willis:
No, I paid $195,000.  That’s on public record.

Interviewer:
Right.  Okay.  So you’ll be moving in as soon as you sell your house.

A.W. Willis:
And then I’ve got to decorate it.  It should be – well, it depends upon – well, I just put it on the market last week.
Interviewer:
Well, it sounds like a rather large home.  It may not go too quickly.
[0:46:00]
A.W. Willis:
You’re shopping in a – we’re asking $275,000.00 for the house, so we’re shopping in a group – in a price bracket that is – there’s just so many.

Interviewer:
I know.  Doesn’t that shock you?

A.W. Willis:
But there it is.  It’s all there.  And other than the – our personal plans to use the house if we need it, we don’t need it then why keep it.

Interviewer:
Where does your 14-year-old go to school, your wife’s daughter?

A.W. Willis:
She goes to um, Central? What’s that other one?
Interviewer:
Belleview?

A.W. Willis:
No, I guess she’s in high school now, so it’d be Central.

Interviewer:
Oh, so she can still go there when you move.

A.W. Willis:
Yeah, we’re right at the same spot.  I think Central is a transfer point school anyways.  They bus them in from everywhere to go to that school.

Begin Segment 9 [00:47:00:09]
Interviewer:
Did you grow up in Memphis?

A.W. Willis:
Mm-hmm.

Interviewer:
It’s always been home.

Interviewer:
Where did you go to school?

A.W. Willis:
Booker Washington, <unclear>Melrose</unclear> Grammar School and Booker T Washington, and I came a long way. About three or four high schools anyway.  And I was going to Washington.  I went to Talladega for my college degree.  Then I went to University of Wisconsin for my law degree.

Interviewer:
Have you anymore political ambitions?

A.W. Willis:
No more than as a citizen.  You stay up on it from being in it.  I tend to watch it closer than I suppose a lot of average citizens do.  And that’s about as, vicariously is about as far as I’m going to get involved in.  As a candidate or actors, I call them.  I would never want to act <unclear>in politics</unclear> again.  I wouldn’t mind being involved in politics on the production end of the business.  But never as an actor  
[0:48:00]

In fact, I never did like that.  That was – at the time I got into politics it was – you had to do it all. You had to be director, producer and the actor.
Interviewer:
What year was that?

A.W. Willis:
Well, I guess my first race was 1960.  In that race I ran for county court.  At that time – all of my races have been crusade kind of cause races, as opposed to the one really caring about winning.  When I won it was sort of <unclear>”Oh well.”</unclear>  As far as I was concerned, the reasons for running were more important than running.  What you had to say.  

I ran for the county court.  The county court had been controlled for 50 years.  And most of the people in this city didn’t know what it was.  I mean white and black.  And we made it known what’s the county court all about.  And that was the first time that race was ever challenged.  And it was challenged all over the place.  
[0:49:01]

So by looking at the county court as a powerful – one of the most powerful political bodies in the ocunty and always had been.  But nobody paid any attention to it.  <unclear>Old county judge concept.</unclear>  Since they’ve dignified what they called it by changing to commissioner.  But <unclear>it carries that kind of</unclear> competition.  And of course, the small rural counties were totally ran by them.  That was the thing.  

But in the city it sort of got buried.  And we ran to let the folk know it exists, that this thing was handling more money than any other agency in this county.  They were handling the second largest budget, second only to the state of Tennessee.  But folks in Memphis didn’t know it existed.  Nobody ever ran for it.  It was just passed on down, and folks stayed in there till they got ready to leave.  
[0:50:00]

And when they got ready to leave they got their buddies in.  The thing had been going on for 50 years, and nobody ran.

We ran to put the thing on record.  And I ran county at large.  I ran city at large, which was at the time the head district.  The chance of winning was fairly excellent in the district on a racial basis and the race was racial on a board where we didn’t try to – we called it like we saw it.  And let the cards fall like they may. And because we got folks upset on both sides of the race.

But it did bring, and ever since then, the county court is running active politically.  People now recognize what it’s all about and the power the thing carries.  And that’s why they run.

In the mayor’s race I went to the legislature, two terms in the legislature, first when I ran at-large and won countywide at-large, although I didn’t, I won by I think 2,000 votes.  
[0:51:00]

And that was a sort of a breakthrough first.  And no black people had been in the state legislature since Reconstruction, whatever date that was.
Interviewer:
You were the first?

A.W. Willis:
Since Reconstruction.  I understand there were blacks in the legislature right after Reconstruction, during the period of history they call Reconstruction right after the Civil War.  But until then there was none.  

And then in that session, we had to deal with the whole question of new districts and the one man, one vote.  And I spent a great deal of time on that with some other issues that <unclear>were less important then</unclear>.  It was crucial to go there and work on that to get that included in the congressional.  We had to <unclear>reimpose and state a new cause</unclear>.  That was one of the projects that I worked on when I was there was to try to get some sort of fairness and that sort of thing.

Anyway, and the only other race I ran was the mayor’s race.

[0:52:00]
Interviewer:
What year was that?

A.W. Willis:
That was ’67, which was, again, a kind of cause race in that people didn’t – it was really aimed at the mind of a – particularly in the black community.

Interviewer:
Did you get the black vote?

A.W. Willis:
No.  I think I ended up with 40 percent of them.  But what motivated me to run, we did a poll that we think was quite accurate because it was done without people really knowing it was being conducted.  It was done pretty loosely in the sense that – it wasn’t said that we are conducting a poll, kind of thing.  We did it – the people who conducted it didn’t realize what they was doing or what the information would be used to.  So they’s put straight answers on the portion there.  We sampled about 5,000 people over a period of time.

It showed that three well-known blacks, including myself, came in last of the three.  
[0:53:03]

We – neither one of us could get over 10 percent of the black vote, and this was mentally disturbing.  And we had come so far in turning – racism has always been a one-way street.  The only way it works in this country with blacks and whites is that black people perceive the same thing as white people perceive.  They perceive themselves inferior.  Otherwise it wouldn’t work.  It would have happened to them is the same thing that happened to American Indians.  They would have been destroyed.  That’s the way history went.

The only way you could maintain the system, a dual system like this, if blacks accepted it.  Now, as they got mistreated, of course, people kept mistreating them.  They would say, well, I’m tired of this.  And you <unclear>gone tear off my neck</unclear>.  But you don’t break down 400 years of brainwashing, told generation by generation, overnight.  
[0:54:00]

And almost everybody’s – everybody is prejudice to some extent.  It’s impossible to grow up in America and not be that way.  It’s a question of degree.

Interviewer:
You think it’s just America?

A.W. Willis:
No, no.  Not just America.  But some countries that got a different… As a college student I remember studying and coming up with several different ways that we found major kinds of prejudice.  And America’s is unique in its own.  Each society has its own dos and don’ts.  They have different kinds of psychological effects on people and their conduct.  What I’m trying to say is that ain’t nobody totally prejudice, neither is anybody totally free of it.  

It’s a matter of you know, you may say it’s fine to eat in the same restaurant, but you feel peculiar about your church.  
[0:55:04]

So people find themselves in different ways.  So only to say this is the way it is.  While we’ve made a lot of strides in a lot of areas.  

In politics it was not perceived that a black man ought to be the mayor yet, the leader of the city.  And this was true both from the white side and the black side.  You get the same kind of votes, you getting both ways.  Like 5 percent of the white people says, yeah, I don’t see nothing wrong with black – I don’t mind having a black mayor or the Memphis mayor is black.  You get 10 percent of blacks saying that.  So I mean, we’ve got a long ways to go when it takes 50 percent to win.

Begin Segment 10 [00:55:53:11]
Interviewer:
Notice Higgs didn’t get a lot more, did he, when he ran.?
A.W. Willis:
Something like 15.  No, not all.  

No, he did <unclear></unclear>.  I wouldn’t call it <unclear>a sight to see</unclear>.  But in my case, Ingram was my toughest opponent in the black community.  Got something like 15 percent of the black vote.  So we were dealing with a different time.

Interviewer:
Different time.

A.W. Willis:
We were dealing with racism in the black community, against blacks in the black community.  

Interviewer:
Yeah.

A.W. Willis:
And then whites just dealing with it as usual.  Wasn’t not problem with them.  They’re just dealing with it across the board, so you had double kind the problem in the black community.  And of course the campaign got pretty heated and people got very angry.  White people they said, well, I’m going to vote for them or against them.  They said I’m not going to vote for them.  And we had a whole bunch of conflicts.  The kids called it changes to go through.

In the black community, a mental torture was taking place.

[0:57:00]
Interviewer:
Do you think it’s changed now?

A.W. Willis:
Oh, yeah, that part has changed.  You wouldn’t have had congressmen for it.  You wouldn’t blacks nowhere.  I mean, that has changed a long ways.  And this was the thrust of this campaign.  That had to be overcome in the black community.  And then we get to the whole question of it across the board because you’re never going to get to the problem because you've got to get out of this – you had to go so far in the black community to get up to wherever the prejudice is that would be even across the board, and then you could start working on total community.

And what has been going on for the last ten years or so, we’re climbing out of that cycle, away from, we had some setbacks. I call them political setbacks along the way.  Generally, it’s been moving in that direction.  And in Memphis a little later, we’ll end up with a  black mayor, has to.  I mean, it’s in the history.  It’s in the cards.  I mean, New Orleans they’ve got a black mayor cause people love that man.
[0:58:03]

We needed it to break the cycle in the community.  And it’s going to have to take place in Memphis to break the cycle.  And then once it’s broken then anybody can now begin, for the first time, to <unclear>serve on a basis that’s not a product of race</unclear>.  Until then, Memphis will be dealing with everything in black and white.  And it’s got to go through it.  

Atlanta, same thing happened in Atlanta.  Whites – I mean, blacks didn’t put – Atlanta had a less population – the black population is less than Atlanta.  It’s less than New Orleans.  Less than Detroit.  It’s less than Los Angeles.  All of these cities had to go through that.  And really it’s the white people that need the black mayor now just to break the cycle, so the can begin to deal with the whole question of what’s wrong with Memphis.  Until that happens we’re going to drag, and you’re going to get the leaders of Memphis dealing with mediocrity.
Interviewer:
I think it’s a great example that as a school board superintendent, he’s doing things that a white superintendent could not have done.

[0:59:00]
A.W. Willis:
Without a doubt.  And people are letting him do it.  And they’re really elementary things.  And people say that shouldn’t make a difference, but this thing has been going on so long, until – there was no other solution to it.  And Memphis has got to do it.  They’ve got to go through the steps.  

And this was almost, <unclear>may not be Higgs, doesn’t matter</unclear>.  I think you’re going to get a fairly decent caliber of black guy because the black community is not going to let you have anything but it.  They’re not going to let you elect anybody that’s a real bum.  Unless you’re protecting against that, I don’t care what you think about it or what white people think about it.  

Black community is very critical and very tough on these leaders.  Very tough.  Unusually so.  So they aren’t going to let a black man get elected that’s a real bum.  They’d be the first ones to throw him out.  He’d have to be a real con artist.  But he’s been around town or she, whatever the case may be, know anything about.  It can’t happen.
[0:59:58]

So, therefore, you can almost rest assured that if they can get the major support from back community, you can go along with it, but you've got to get past a little psyche.  That may be quite temporary.  The next mayor, after that may be white.  You may never see another black mayor because from thereon out the person is going to have to compete then across the board.  It’s not going to matter if he’s black.  It’s just not going to make any difference.  It’ll be no more.  But you've got to do it once to get the thing off his back.

I mean, I can’t explain how, but if you just look around and ask yourself why, why Atlanta, why New Orleans.  Los Angeles is really why.  You've got a situation out there where the minority population is generally only about 20 percent, even when you put the Spanish people there.  You've got a tremendous, 10 to 15 percent black.  So they could – every one of them could vote, all those not even registered, and they still couldn’t elect a mayor.

That’s not what happened there.  That’s not what happened in Detroit.  It’s not what happened anywhere.

[1:01:00]
Interviewer:
I need to ask you one thing because I don’t think I have it.  What does A.W. stand for?

A.W. Willis:
Archie Walter.

Interviewer:
Wait a minute.  Would you spell that?

A.W. Willis:
A-R-C-H-I-E.

Interviewer:
And Walter.  And you’re junior?

A.W. Willis:
I was a junior.  Now I’ve got a third out there now.  My son’s out there now.  He’s working down here in the summer.  He goes to University of North Carolina working on his MBA in about a month.

Interviewer:
And he’s graduated? Where’d he do his undergraduate?
A.W. Willis:
University of California, Los Angeles.  All this time he went to the West Coast, and now he’s going to the East Coast.  We hope he returns to Memphis.

Interviewer:
Well, you feel pretty optimistic about our neighborhood, that this neighborhood is getting back to that.

A.W. Willis:
Oh, yeah, this is going to go up.  It’ll begin to take on the prestige, some of the South Memphis area.  
[1:02:00]

See, you have nowhere to go.  Once you pass North Parkway, what you've got is a lot that is roughly paralleled by, say, parkways going towards the river.  And they go all the way out to, let’s say, Cooper.  And they connect up the eastern portion of Memphis.  They’re flanked on both sides.  It’s the only way you've got growth potential.

Begin Segment 11 [01:02:27:29]
Interviewer:
Do you think it will remain an integrated neighborhood?

A.W. Willis:
Yeah, it will become more integrated now.  You see, white people aren’t going to go way out into Collierville for racial reasons.  When you put it up against the economics, those reasons. And the thing to do is come back to town.  And it’s happening in every American city, all over.  
[1:03:00]

They’re going to build shopping centers, they can do anything they want to do, but they won’t be able to stop.  Though people’ve got the best interest in developing in the city when you've got. They won’t be able to hold the people back from filling up this pathway right though.  And it’s enough for everybody population anyway is growing.  If the city really got a hold of some leadership, this city could really grow up fast.

There’s sort of a stagnant, and there’s a lot of potential here.  It’s centrally located.  It’s got a geographically excellent location.  It is between –
 [Beginning of a.w. willis.tape2]
THIS IS 1:03:44
Interviewer:
 -- 1979.  This is Rae Ann Kramer and Peggy Jemison continuing our interview with A.W. Willis.

We were asking you about your company, Supreme Mortgage Company, and this is a family operation.  Who are your partners?

A.W. Willis:
Well, I’m actually partner, and my brother-in-law, Lawrence Wesley, is the secretary and treasurer of the company.  And he’s the acting partner.  And my sister is the other stockholder.  She does not actively participate except on the board of directors.  She’s not a managing officer.

The company started in ’66.  Really part time.  It jumped from a law practice because our brother was in part-time rental management.  And the company he worked for closed down.  The man had a heart attack, and he wanted to do something.  So we formed this company.  At that time I don’t think it was called Supreme Mortgage.  Supreme something.
[1:04:44]

In 1968 we decided to do a few rehabs, and then we qualified under the mortgage loan correspondence statute that passed in 1935 to permit large insurance companies, mortgage companies to set up their own brokerage operations, a completely separate company that that they had no connection with.  But the statute permitted you to put up a small capital of $10,000.00 net worth and begin to process loans for a particular designated company.

And the only way you could go outside of the company is that your sponsoring company turned them down.  They could not handle a loan. In that case, you would then – you could go out in the market and sell the mortgage to any company that would buy it.  There was an old statute that wasn’t used.  I think this is the first time it ever had and it hasn’t been used since.
[0:02:00]

Except that, well, it had been – well, we used it all the up to the time that we became a full mortgage banking company.  It was required $100,000.00 net worth.  And we did that in 1972 when we this business was worthwhile staying in and we wanted to put assets in to increase the company’s assets up to the required minimal $100,000.00 net worth.  At that point we became a mortgage bank, FHA-approved mortgage.

We – at that time I was, during the seventies, early seventies I was practicing the law in Washington and had an office here in Memphis.  And our little company started growing and got to the point where I commuted once a month, twice a month, then once a week.  And when it got to be once a week, I made a choice to move or I was going to close it.  But because of my brother-in-law and sister were involved I felt obligated to stay in the business, protect their investment and also my own
[0:03:05]

And I could switch mine out.  And I had family here too at the time.  So I came back to Memphis in ’75, commuted for that three-year period virtually.  We’d been trying to make it go.

One other thing I suppose was stronger in our mind was that we are a minority-owned company.  We are one of less than half a dozen in the nation, and the only one in the South.

Begin Segment 12 [1:07:17:24]
Interviewer:
Only one in the South?

A.W. Willis:
I can’t name the half a dozen.  I understand there are half a dozen in the country.  I know personally of four of them, but that’s it.  I can’t go – but I understand somebody said there’s another one, that’s six, so maybe six, five or six.  I know three of them.  I guess I do.  One in Washington D.C. and one in New Jersey.
[0:04:00]

Could be one in Detroit.  I’m not certain.  

Anyway, we took some pride in that.  It is a rough, competitive business.  It operates on a very small margin profit per diem, and the operations almost 100 percent of the volume.  And you’re out in a big-man’s world.  You have to bid on money like everybody else, and you buy it and sell it for the best price.  There’s some 18 or 19 companies in Memphis, and they’re your competition.  And then your further competition are out-of-town companies outside of Memphis that are looking at this market, and they – the bigger they get the tougher they make it for you.  So it is a rough business.  Quite fascinating.

It permits us to get involved in how to become very interested in worked with community development and how it works.  And you’re constantly giving them advice as to how we see a problem out here, how it ought to be done, and they take a lot of it. 

[0:05:00]

They’re slow sometimes, but they have to – it is the government, and they have to go through that.  It’s a building organization, where they brought in all green people and they got to bring it up to a certain stage.  And we’re working very close with them.  We service the community development.  The loans, we make their loans.  We are their servicing agent.  We collect the monthly payment and then remit it to the city, just as we do in TSDA, that’s the state agency.

And so we are pretty much committed to the central city.  I would suspect that our loans – we buy loans from all over the city, and we don’t pay any attention to – in fact, we like them better in East Memphis because they’re better loans.  But our commitment is to the central city.  And we do all we – we keep all we can here, and then we buy the rest to fill our commitments where we can in the city.

So to that extent – I don’t know how much the ratio of our portfolio.

[0:06:00]

A considerable number of people would not be white, but we serve them all.

Interviewer:
That would not be white?

A.W. Willis:
Yes.  Oh, yes.  We buy your mortgage, which is up for sale if you've got one, and we buy it.  And all you have to do is pay us, and you’d never have any trouble out of us.  Same rules govern all the folks.

Interviewer:
Sure.

A.W. Willis:
But we keep our interests in the central city, and we think that the city has got to develop it’s inner resources.  It’s just got to. 

Interviewer:
You go everywhere in the city?

A.W. Willis:
We go anywhere we can buy mortgage.  If we can buy at a good price, we’ll buy.  But we don’t spend the time. If I bought a mortgage out of East Memphis, it becomes a business transaction that you write a check for $50,000 for the loan and send it to the investor, and that’s the end of it.  You never see the quote. It’s quite impersonal.

[0:06:57]

But being in the city, we get out in the neighborhood <unclear>pallin’ on the street pallin’.</unclear> Everything’s going on because we think that’s what our function is, is to deal with it.  And we’re all oriented with that.  I have my own background that makes me very much interested in it, even though I can live in the section of the city I wish to without any difficulty.  But I still think the city has got to be developed.

Interviewer:
You said you had property in Greenlaw.
A.W. Willis:
Yeah, we sell a few properties in, you know. We think that neighborhood has a great potential.  I looked at it, and I looked at it in proximity to downtown Memphis, and that neighborhood has got to have tremendous potential.  And it reminds me of reading about Georgetown many years ago.  
[0:08:00]

I don’t think I’ll ever live to see it turn into a Georgetown, but certainly in the next 10 or 15 years, Greenlaw,  the face of Greenlaw should change, both upwardly in income and tremendously in race.  We should see a great many white people in Greenlaw.  Right now it’s almost 100 percent black, close to it.

Interviewer:
Few whites.

A.W. Willis:
A few whites there, and they’re on welfare…
Interviewer:
Mm-hmm.

A.W. Willis:
And most of the other folks are too.  It’s just a poor neighborhood, period.

Interviewer:
Right.

Begin Segment 13 [01:12:18:23]
A.W. Willis:
It had been designated a black neighborhood and so recognized socially.  But where it is, it’s just going to get swept up and a different breed of folks are going to go there.  It’s history in progress.  It’s got to happen, and it’s going to happen.  And we’re buying in there because it’s a good investment.  We’re maintaining what we got.

[0:09:00]
Interviewer:
Are you buying individual houses or apartment projects?
A.W. Willis:
Yeah, well, we own a couple of the apartments.  I mean, most of the apartments in Greenlaw are real small.  We only a 6-unit building, a 4-unit building.  But we like the single-family and duplex thing better.  Personally, they end up being less headache to manage.

Interviewer:
Do you have a management company?  Is this your management company, Supreme Mortgage?

A.W. Willis:
Yeah, we’re small.  We’re too small to be specialists in anything really, so we do a little of all of it.  But our vital function is on our mortgage banking.  It takes a long time to develop debt, and it depends on lines of credit, relationships with banks.  That’s where we put all our emphasis and everything.  We’re doing the managing sort of incidentally to the business, just to manage what we got.  We don’t take on other people’s rental properties.

Interviewer:
Just your own.

A.W. Willis:
And we don’t even manage all of our own.  We think we got <unclear>the right idea with Greenlaw</unclear> properties.

[0:10:00]

We’re looking at them because we have a philosophy of how it’s going to go and we don’t think a management company is going to relate to that property, and they keep that kind of property.  The property in the margin areas, we would tend to hold on to those.  Out of margin areas area, there’s another piece of rental property that would give it to somebody else the managing – you know, does a pretty good job in managing low-income properties.

Interviewer:
Who do you use?

A.W. Willis:
Primarily we’ve been using John J. Bailey & Company.  They do a pretty good job.  Not a great big huge outfit.  And the owners are still very active in the business, and they go out and make all the inspections.  And we find that the little company like that does a pretty good job.  Several others like that where the owners really run the companies, they don’t just hire somebody to go out and look.  They get involved, and they go out and make the inspections, and they know half the town.  They just do a little better job, in particular for troubled properties.

[0:11:00]

Like I said, in margin properties, properties in the margin area, we’re hounding that because these vacancies don’t, aren’t tuned into the program like we are.  And we sort of want to watch their development and <unclear> we can take care of that</unclear>.
Interviewer:
This is sort of jumping around, but let me ask you one question going to Hein Park.  How are you going to feel about West Drive?  Do you have a strong opinion about opening or closing West Drive?

A.W. Willis:
Well, I know that it was closed.  I assumed it was going to stay close.  I see no real function in opening <unclear>it up</unclear>.  As a matter of fact, I like the peace and quiet that’s on the dead-end street now, and I’m not looking forward to seeing them cars zooming through there at 100 miles an hour.

Interviewer:
Do you know Brother Green?

A.W. Willis:
Yes, ma'am.  I’ve known him for 20 years.

Interviewer:
Twenty years, huh?

A.W. Willis:
At least.  Not really that long.  I think I met Brother Green in 1962 or ’63.

[0:12:02]
Interviewer:
Was he a Memphian also?

A.W. Willis:
Well, his family is all from here.  When I met him he was living in New York, and I think I got to meet him because our law firm was doing some legal business for him and real estate business, and I met him.

Interviewer:
In New York.

A.W. Willis:
He didn’t live here then.  I think he was there in New York, and he moved back somewhere between then and now.
Interviewer:
What was he doing in New York?

A.W. Willis:
I don’t know.  A lot of kids leave here and go up there.  A lot going on in New York.

Interviewer:
I meant was he working in New York?

A.W. Willis:
He was living in New York.  When I met him he was living in New York.  When I met him and he <unclear>came to us and</unclear> one of my law partners was doing some work for him, so a very casual sort of meeting with him.  <unclear>That’s how court goes.</unclear>  And then I came back Memphis during the late ‘60s and ‘70s, early ‘70s.  And I understand he came back and got pretty active in the civic kind of activities.

Begin Segment 14 [01:16:43:05]
Interviewer:
Mm-hmm

Interviewer:
Do you feel like he’s doing the black race a service now or disservice?

A.W. Willis:
Well, it really don’t make any difference.  He’s just out there just speaking his mind and <unclear>talking to</unclear> folks.  I’m not going to be influenced one way or the other by what Brother Green says, thinks or does.  Boy, he’s got his opinion.  He thinks streets ought to be closed, I don’t.  He says <unclear>no</unclear> races, and I suspect there are.

I don’t think a lot about that because, after all, the whole town is, and that’s no new, relevant – you’re not telling me anything new.  Some people feel strong about it, and some people don’t.  There are some legitimate reasons for closing the street, and I’m sure there’s some people got the wrong motives, got the racial motive, put it that way, assuming that’s the wrong one.  

But put it like this.  We moved there.  It was closed.  I don’t like the traffic.  Ain’t got no sidewalks, curbs or gutters in the place.  You can’t walk around the place.  I don’t know why the folks won’t put no curbs there.

[0:14:00] 

Maybe making the sidewalk now because of the way it’s laid out, but it looks like to be they ought to put some curbs in there.  I just assume that – I haven’t been over there meeting with the residents.  I understand they have a little club or the neighborhood association over there.  And I guess I’ll get active in it once we move.  But it’d be awkward to get involved in it from where I am now.

And I – I mean, some of the people I know over there, you know, that live there.  A lot of people say, “Hey, you’re moving to our neighborhood?” or “When you going to move.?”  But beyond that it didn’t matter.  But I noticed that I would prefer them putting curbs in.  Not sidewalks but curbs.  You get a better separation between the street and the yard.  People take pretty good care of their yard, so you don’t – it’s not in bad shape.  But it looks like that in the long haul and come in and put curbs in.  

[0:15:02]

But I only mention that because there’s no walking space.  People have to walk in the streets, and the traffic flying through the place, somebody is going to get run over, probably accidentally.  And there’s not – it’s not a highly lighted neighborhood.  There’s no reason to put those big spotlights all over the place.  There’s no problem, but that’s what you have to do the way people go zigging through there.

And the way it was laid out in the beginning, if you look at the parking, in some of the streets they’ve got no business going out in the first place, a bad plan in the beginning.  I guess you couldn’t.  This is hindsight.

So my own feeling is that <unclear>I want things to take hold</unclear>.  From my point of view it does save somebody about 300 feet, no more than that, 300 yards maybe.  I don’t know what the precise distance from Trezevant to West.  

[0:16:00]

Say 300 yards and back 300 yards to get to the park.  And it would be serious for anybody that just wants to make the shortcut.  I make it all the time myself.  I don’t make it now.  I don’t pay no attention one way or another because the street’s not open anymore.  And I don’t have any problems with it.  Like I said I’m sure there’s some people over there that say I don’t want it open because blacks come through there.  But that’s kind of thin.
Interviewer:
We’ve seen so much hostility over among the blacks over it.  It was just sort of like the thing that was focused on because Brother Green did focus on it.

A.W. Willis:
Well, it’s like anything else, somebody focus on the point and it’s half true.  See, he’s dealing with truths, keep in mind.  And part of it, you got to be true.  And anybody that says, well, there’s no racial reason for us to want this street closed, then they aren’t be true.

[0:17:00]

There is some racial reasons.  And put the real – let’s get to the marriage of the situation.  There is a such a traffic pattern situation.  Where you've got neighborhood and a little pocket and houses that couldn’t be over 100 in a neighborhood, in a street, that kind of came through but it made no sense in the beginning.  It’s not a well lighted neighborhood. And it is not well designed.  There’s blind curves all over the place, and it lends itself into few entrances into the place, maybe two or three ways out of it.  So you can get out of it on – I believe you can get out of it on Center, can’t you?  No, you can’t.

Interviewer:
Yeah, you can get out onto Trezevant.
[Crosstalk] 

A.W. Willis:
We’ve got Trezevant, and you can get in it from the north.

Interviewer:
Well, and you can get into it from the street, Charles.  You can get in on Charles Place off of Jackson.

[0:18:00]
A.W. Willis:
So you know, it’s a little contained neighborhood backed up against the school.  And as far as I’m concerned, there’s enough ways in and out of it.  They don’t need no more.  It doesn’t serve a useful purpose other than it’s a shortcut for folk that want to go to North Parkway from Jackson Street.  And that’s why they had it there in the beginning.  It serves no other purpose than that.  

And to me, it boils down to a simple set of facts.  Just keep in mind, now Brother may holler one way, other people, you’re hitting their sore spot, and they respond.  And immediately generally defensive defending in that spot.  And they lose the real issue.  And they may lose the real lawsuit on the counter to that.

I suspect – I don’t know who prepared the case, who defended them, but I suspect if the circuit court, as I understand, is now listening to arguments, what they did is a whole lot of mistakes made.


Cause it made a simple issue into fact that the truth of the matter is people are motivated by the wrong reasons, and then they end up getting wrong judgments.

Begin Segment 15 [00:06:16:09]
Interviewer:
Do you think there’s going to be any motivation over the Vollintine courts or Saints courts or whatever it’s being called now?

A.W. Willis:
No, I think it’ll close and it’ll be in litigation.  I mean, I can’t imagine where it would come from.  From our point of view, we think we’ve got a legitimate lawsuit against her, but that’d take three or four years.  And there is another way out of it economically, and that’s the way you’re trying.  

Now, I don’t know what the folks out there.  I understand there’s neighbors that are concerned.  They're going to file something.  I don’t know what they’d be filing, but I haven’t seen anything --

Interviewer:
Have you heard anything more than that?

A.W. Willis:
No more than what I saw in the papers, and that’s just a couple of articles written in Commercial Appeal.  I don’t know what’s going on.  I don’t even know what the basis is, except they want some action.

[0:20:01]
Interviewer:
Well, what about the minister filing suit against HUD or against the fire department for the damage?

A.W. Willis:
Well, that’s another item altogether.  That right still exists to go against the firemen, clearly. And we may pursue that.  But that has nothing to do with the problem of getting it developed.  That’ll be a suit of natural damages, what damages you caused my building, which precisely can be determined.  HUD’s not involved in that.

The HUD lawsuit would be improper handling and processing of the case.  Improper judgments outside of regulation.  It’d be that kind of.  And whether they caused damages by the delay.  Community development, of course, has a vested interest in it in that this is one of their target areas.  And there’s some things they can do, if they wish to.
[0:21:00]

They’ve been hit by a couple propositions, and they’ve turned them down that would save the development <unclear>and whole idea</unclear>.  They haven’t been hit for all of the possibilities, but they have been hit with a couple of possibilities that they have flat turned down.

Interviewer:
Like what?

A.W. Willis:
Well, one way we found a case where the City of Cleveland had a similar situation. <gap></gap>
A.W. Willis:
A situation where the as-is value of the property in its present condition wouldn’t appraise for enough to fit in the guidelines so you could pay off the loans for the mortgage holders.

Interviewer:
This was in Cleveland?

A.W. Willis:
Yes, which was the similar situation.  One of the problems in the Vollintine area, the Vollintine project.  The City of Cleveland took its block grant funds and made a grant for the difference that kept the project going.

[0:22:04]

Which HUD will concur with the city, they don’t know what to do with it now.  We’re talking about block grant money.  We’re not talking about money coming out of the city’s budget.  We’re talking about federal forums.  And they’d assess information to divert those funds into this.  And which HUD is willing to concur with Memphis and not really use them.  Notwithstanding the fact that Memphis is under a possible threat of the funds going back anyway because Memphis can’t spend it.  So this would be a way they could spend it, and HUD’s perfectly willing to do it because it’d bail HUD out of a whole lot of bureaucratic mistakes.

We think they’ve been compounding with mistakes on this level, and then somebody covers for a HUD employee, and then somebody’s covered for him.  And the whole thing is almost like massive cover-up kind of a thing where everybody’s protecting everybody else because the end result would be embarassing to HUD if those mistakes would have surfaced in court.  

[0:23:01]

And because they’re betting it won’t be in a court situation because they know the time that it takes to get through.  It could take two years, three years.  So I guess the HUD plays poker with me on that.  They’d turn you down and just say, okay, go ahead on to court.  You can’t win.  I mean, time kills you.  Money too.  It takes a lot of money. You know, the church doesn’t have any funds to pay for such lawsuit.

That’s one.  The other one is deferring loan kind of thing they did on <unclear>Breezeway</unclear> property when they made a 312 loan, which is a federal loan, and allocated <unclear>two more to develop</unclear>.  And then they took half a million dollars, and then they took another half a million dollar block grant, and they made them a loan for it.  But the loan has got some peculiar language in it, but a loan is interest only for the first 20 years, and then the principle starts after 20 years.

Then it’s got another one in there that even if the projects collapse, the whole thing becomes a grant.  

[0:24:03]

We hit them with that proposition.  That was a duplication of something they had done in Memphis, not going to Cleveland.  Cleveland is the one they say, hey, we need this property fixed up, and let’s get it fixed up.  It’s the old urban renewal theory that you write down the value of the land, and it’s done on the urban renewal theory.  So it’s all that.  They turned that down for Vollintine project.

Begin Segment 16 [01:28:13:24]

The only other thing they could do, and they haven’t been hit with this, they could go hit on and make a combination of 312 loans outright because they’re getting ready to change the 312 regulations that permits refinancing.  And with that, that has not – that’s a possibility, and that could even happen at the last minute on this project.  It would mean you’d have more dollars all of a sudden to fix up the project because you could pay a bigger mortgage.

[0:25:02]

Now, that one is one lane that’s a possibility for community development to get involved in that one.  The – what we’re doing now to move the project ahead, it’s not an either or situation.  You can always pick up and define on it right up to the closing.  The 3 percent loan.  And then shoot the mortgage up because you've got more money to pay it, as opposed to the 7.5 percent loan, you've got another 3.5 percent that would permit you to do some more things in the project.

And I think if we get to that one, it’ll be after you get into the project because you can always pay the HUD loan off right to the project, right to the very end.  It may be that it’s clearly obvious that to really do justice on the project you've got to spend another $1 million on it, or you’re going to have a project half developed.
[0:26:00]

And at that point, the thing could switch over to 3 percent loan, and thereby would shoot another $1 million into the project to do those things that would be extra.  Now, these would be things like the patio fences around each individual yard.  That sort of thing costs a great deal of money to do.  That would really be nice because the property is sitting there and lends itself so well to getting it close to something like a condominium in that folk--  in fact, you could even sell some of the units if you wanted to mix it, or you could sell the whole project out to folk and just make a whole condominium out of it, using a regular old <unclear>Marshall loan</unclear>.

Because the way the project is physically designed, I don’t think it has to be taken <unclear>to the level it would be</unclear>.  Try putting water meters at each apartment.  I don’t know how much that costs.  But say it costs $300 or $400 per unit to do that.  If you did that then everybody’s unit was self-contained.  And the way the space is you could give them all a yard.

[0:27:01]

Now, if you did that, you’d be in a situation where it’s located you can see where they could have a mixture of income and people there.  You could get integration in the project.  The project as it now stands is being managed by MHA for lease one year.  MHA, unfortunately, carries a stigma of black.  That’s just a stigma.  It’s not real.  

But to me what’s going to happen is that tenants coming to apply for rent are going to be 90 percent black, and they can’t turn them folk down.  They have to make a reasonable effort.  They couldn’t turn – if they could find some white folks to live in it, I’m sure they’d put them in there because they have to also say to them we don’t discriminate.  And the Memphis Housing Authority tries to do that, but trying to outlive that image is really rough.  I mean, in some kind of a way, poor white folks think that they ain’t supposed to go to MHA.  

[0:28:00]

What do you do to get more education in a neighborhood.  The kind of thing that a community organization could determine whether Vollintine were mixed or not.  And certainly we, at least I know I speak for myself and I can speak for most of the people in the project unequivocally, we have been pushing integration a long time as a way out for America and Memphis.

And it’s hard enough – I was talking to some people in community development, and they had some problems.  They <unclear>said it looked like this project was</unclear> balanced so that it would stay balanced because you can go ask some sociologists what is that.  And that logic figures if it’s more than 30 percent black, it won’t stay black.  It won’t stay integrated.  And I’m assuming that’s right today.
[0:29:00]

And I don’t argue with that seriously today.  That probably is accurate.  If it got to be 50 percent black it would tend to go more black.

Interviewer:
Mm-hmm.

A.W. Willis:
I know we can control the black end of it, so the problem is getting the 70 percent white, and not getting the 30 percent black.  That’s the problem with every single project.  See, blacks are programmed to integration.  They’ll do it without too much difficulty, even though they’ve got some preferences like white people.  You look at Whitehaven.  Those persons ring around buddies and their little social club, their bridge club, like it does in the white community.  And because all these things are offset, all these little private clubs are separate, people just they aren’t used to living together, so they tend to slowly fall to the old habit.

[0:30:00]

But there’s a whole new generation that really could care less.  And people are seriously thinking it’s fine.  And so it just takes the right kind of promotion to do that.  It doesn’t take a great deal.  It just takes setting the project into the proper context.  And this is where our neighborhood community could do-- If they really get involved and assure young white kids they want to – obviously young.  I think that’s what you want to have in an apartment type for the most part, unless you went to the older people, and those apartments are two-story, so you’re probably talking about younger people.

The blessings of the thing would almost do enough to assure some applicants and if it’s properly design.  And so it’s hard to talk to HUD officials aren’t sure the demand in HUD.  They were saying let’s put the fences around there.  He never did say why.  I don’t know why he feels embarrassed to tell me when we pushing for that all along, but they do.
Begin Segment 17 [01:34:47]

Community development won’t say it until someone come out and ask them.  HUD is really trying to say you want the project 60 percent white.  And he said, no, 70.  And the only reason 70 because of what they say.  So I didn’t argue with him.  What’s your reluctance to admit that?  Even if I’m a guy saying to hell with all white folks, kill and burn them.  It’s different.  I’ve been out here ten years and almost got killed three or four times when I see all the integrators are out there.

My kids went to the schools and were guinea pigs in all this immigration business.  I’ve had assassination on my life has been more than one or two times in this mess.  How come you don’t think after all these years I’m against what you’re hoping?  We can’t talk about the language, all this shutting mouth, hidden games.

And the same thing, when you have the kind of situation in a neighborhood like Greenlaw.  Messing with it and nobody really wants<gap></gap>  It’s not – the whole reason they started the north and the south is racial.  It don’t make no logical sense.

[0:32:04]

You had the better views on the south end of the street anyway.  You've got much better views along the end of Vance, perfect location where somebody announced they’re going to put some condominiums in.  On this end to about to Beale Street south, the view of the river, is a whole lot better than the view of the river sitting back way back up on Front Street.  You barely got to build the thing funny so you can peek out the side and see the river.  Yet, that’s where action started.

The south end, nothing started down here.  It’s talk.  You’re just worried about what you’re going to do with the black and white thing.  Well, first you ain’t even got to worry about building no $100,000 condominiums.  You ain’t got to worry about what kind of folks are going to move in them.  Somebody’s going to <unclear>fold with a $1000 note when they move in it, period. That’s the end of that.</unclear>  And it makes no difference what they are.  But then we got all this on Vance, and they got the prostitutes down on Vance who the police permit to say, and he move them off in the day.  
[0:33:03]

You just tell them to get off the street, and they’re all gone.  Overnight. It’s not difficulty by it.  It’s almost like a grant, why take ten years fooling around with sneaky condemnation, all this unfolding, when you get ready to fix a neighborhood up?  That’s going over to Avalon saying, “Hey, we’re going to fix this neighborhood up.  This is a priority if the city.  The neighborhood got to be fixed up, and you've got to fix it up or do something.” And don’t worry about it because we still know.  

As black folks – we are no less impressed – in fact, I’m much more unimpressed in the sneaky backhanded way of slipping the health department down there and letting the prostitutes running around in the front yard just to get folk out of the neighborhood.  Ultimately, this neighborhood won’t be occupied by the same people in it now.  And when it get through with the crime, just as I’m against it, I’m going to still be against it, and I’m going to have no respect for the sneaky, backhanded way they do it.
[0:34:03]

So if you’re going to do it, let’s go on and hit the neighborhood, and you’re going to find you’ll have cooperation from the blacks just like that, don’t even worry about it.  First you tell the folk they’re going to get decent price for the houses.  And the folks down there sneaking and buying.  One thing we’ve watched is watch how the property start changing.  

So what’s going on now is a lot of little sneaky buying.  And the health department pressures a poor fellow, they hound him if he’s got a rooming house.  They run him out of business where he has to sell for nothing.  So it’s like a grand conspiracy to do what?  To make some fellow <unclear>that’s sharp enough to see it</unclear> to make a few thousand dollars.  That ain’t in the interest of the city.  

So that guy, I don’t care about him.  Let him compete in the jungle like everybody else.  This is now – the city is going to use its power of imminent domain.  It’s going to lose its health department.  It’s going to use everything, the police department to get the prostitutes out, forced, everything, and we’re going to clean up.  And this neighborhood is going to become a nice neighborhood with a range of houses.
Begin Segment 18 [01:38:45:06]

And just let it hit with the plan.  And developers come in and folk get fair prices on the houses, and we go and get something done.  If you did that, we’d have houses, hundreds of them, all the way from Cleveland all the way back to here already because this land here is a whole lot cheaper than the stuff around there on the river.  And you wouldn’t have this mess.  

So it’s all this fooling around and messing around and ducking going on and clandestine activity going on.  That’s all wrapped up in the leadership.
Interviewer:
And of course the police say that if they arrest the prostitutes, the judges let them out the next day.

A.W. Willis:
They’ve been arrested the men lately, so they start arresting the men. I tell you, something’s going to happen about it.  You arrest the solicitors or whatever you call it, oh, yeah.  They can handle that.  The point is that --

Interviewer:
That’s true.  We found in Cherokee, when they really wanted them gone they got rid of them.  They moved someplace else.  When the Hyatt Regency out in East Memphis wanted them out –

[0:36:00]
A.W. Willis:
There’s no problem about that.  The problem is there is no commitment to stop it.  There’s just no commitment.  The point is let’s contain it, and let’s contain it here.  But now they contain in the most valuable part of the city.  You see, <unclear>they say</unclear> this is a black neighborhood let’s contain it over here.

Interviewer:
Yeah, that’s true.

A.W. Willis:
Well, now it’s becoming crucial to do something about developing the inner city, period.  And the – you asked the question about the mass movement of these people out.  Just ain’t going to happen that way.  At first, there’s a lot of neighborhoods that have been there a long time, 50 years, never caught up in the surge downtown because it’s got to develop.

Keep in mind, it’s got to develop from I’d say essentially Peabody as the dividing line.  And you’re going to the south and to the north.

[0:37:04]

It’s already over essentially to Lamar.  And then after you hit Lamar, you’re already into nice homes on the South Parkway, primarily occupied by blacks.  But the property’s there.  White people want to live over there.  They just buy them houses when they come for sale, which they’re going to do.  And some of them are going to come for sale.  They don’t come for sale fast because blacks ain’t got that many options, so they don’t be moving fast.

And furthermore, the train is back in town.  So why they going to move now?  They’re right in the middle of the action, and they keep up their property.  So you've got that boundary down on the west and on the south.  They’re – you’re already over to Jackson and into Jackson.  And the, wherever the dividing line is would be the Evergreen neighborhood.

[0:37:57]

So you're talking about for the next 10, 15 years, the inner city portion that will change economic hands will be essentially within the parkways, with the extension of it to Jackson on the north and slightly beyond Jackson.  And all that space is going to be developed on the basis of economic.
Interviewer:
That’s right.
A.W. Willis:
And purely economic.  Now, blacks will be intertwined in there as they see the aesthetics of it or reason for it or however they move.  Like you ain’t going to run me out of the neighborhood because I see where the action is.  I ain’t thinking about moving out.  In the first place, I like the proximity, and ain’t going to have no problems.  And I like old houses, and a lot of my buddies like the ranch type.  Sooner or later, they’ll like them all, and if they do, their choice is to move there.

They really like the ranch style.  They’ve got to go out.  They’ve got to go to White Haven, East Memphis.  That’s the only place you can find it.  Germantown.  

[0:39:00]

That’s just where you've got to buy it.  And you can go to all these neighborhoods if they choose to, if they’ve got the money to spend $100,000 or better.  They can go anywhere they want to go in this town.  It doesn’t make any difference.  And I don’t care who likes it or dislikes it.  It doesn’t matter.  You can get them financed now and move, and it’s just that simple.

So that’s good.  That’s real.  That’s going to take place.  And may as well do it orderly without animosity, and call a spade a spade.  The white folks are hiding behind the fact that we go into a neighborhood and try to do a sneaky.  It ain’t like that.  People want to be closer to town.  When they stir up the noise, there’s going to be some blacks up there.  And they’ll start moving in and not worried about.

And when that happens, and a little more happens, we’ll get someplace, and we’ll get there a whole lot faster.  And the offshoot is that the other neighborhoods that probably will not be in a path I just described, you need to fix those up because those folks got to go someplace.  You've got thousands of vacant lots all over the city, particularly in the inner city that you can’t give away. 
[0:40:03]

But if you go on Peabody or Central, it’ll cost you $35,000, $40,000 for a little old 6-foot lot.  And I can give you 100 of them over in South Memphis.  You can’t give them away.  The folks are deeding them back to the city.  Just put the deed down and give back to the city because you get harassed by the health department and keep up the, the weeds, and all that so you can’t give the land away.  

What I’m saying is that land is going to come back.  There’s never going to be $35,000, $40,000.  Nothing around it would be that comparable.  But it could be if the neighborhood is fixed up.  The old Lucy in the McLemore neighborhood.  Very old neighborhood, and then we done some – we having it now.  We picked one street Lucy, and we’ve got four  houses and just finished one of them, and we’re going to do the other three right within – one on the 400 block and one on the 500 block, right in there.

We’re happy with that.  There are four lots in the same neighborhood that somebody could build a house on if they wanted to.

Begin Segment 19 [01:44:54:00]
Interviewer:
Plus, with construction costs now is that economically feasible?

A.W. Willis:
Well, it’s probably not, but again, America is going to have to go ahead and commit to a massive interest subsidy, just like they committed to the rent subsidy.  There is no decent interest subsidy program in pen.  A lot of it is locked up as the president’s attempted to deal with inflation because construction is one of the areas where you get a lot of play in inflation because construction dollars affect so many other kinds of dollars until you got that problem.

But folk still don’t have a house.  And the energy situation getting like it is, they don’t have houses that are anywhere near modest energy savers. 
[0:42:08]

They can’t buy the insulation.  An old house you've got it pumping in.  You just got to to deal with it.  They can’t pay for the expensive storm windows in some of these.  They’ve got to be specially made.  The insulation is shot through the sky.  That kind of commitment is going to require a cut in the marketplace on the interest rate, which is the only place you can cut it.  You've got to be able to cut it.  

We don’t have a decent program. We’ve got a 235 program that only goes to new construction at the moment.  And even now, they haven’t published guidelines so for all practical purposes, the program is useless in this community because the guidelines as to what the income levels have not been published.  And they were due out in February.  And it’s July.
Interviewer:
Sure.

[0:43:00]
A.W. Willis:
We don’t even know – they announced the 235 program, and we can’t use it because we haven’t got any, and I suspect that’s been delayed.  And I’m sure they had the guidelines ready in February.  They’ve just been holding them back.  Holding back on inflation.  We’ve got nothing.  And rehab kind of construction, the only thing we’ve got is the community development kind of program.

Now, that’s – that program is not moving very rapidly in terms of getting something done.  This is part of the reason they say is when you allow infrastructure, streets, lights, and that sort of thing.  Be as it may, I’ve got a feeling you could get a lot more activity going in this neighborhood than the street already got a sidewalk does.  A lot of those still around that need fixing up that you could spend millions and millions and never got to this street problem, even though we do need the street problem.

So we – people will go if you upgrade every single neighborhood in the city.  
[0:44:00]

In 15 years, they’re old.  They’re 35.  They’re 50.  They’re 60.  They’re 70.  They’re 80.  They’re 100.  Whatever kind of neighborhoods.  People will follow their own level, and they will go where – let the folk alone.  The integration problem starts to take care of itself, or it doesn’t exist.  Either way, it doesn’t make a difference.  If blacks want to live all in Whitehaven, and then you can do to get in Germantown.  But just don’t put no roadblocks.

And our fight was that you can’t stop it.  I mean, certainly there’s all the bologna about property value, and that’s malarkey.  The property shooting up through the sky.  Blacks moving to Whitehaven properties going way up.  The newspaper says it just shot right up in the sky.  So I’m not even really troubled about these notions about what happens.
[0:45:00]

Just build decent houses.  Fix all the streets up.

Interviewer:
Do you think block busting has kind of diminished now, or do you think it’s not having the impact that it used to have?

A.W. Willis:
Well, it’s about disappearing as a term because you can only have that situation in a certain psychological situation with white folks.

Interviewer:
Mm-hmm.

A.W. Willis:
Because they ain’t going to move in the black neighborhood.  It could work the other way.  But it’s not supposed to happen that white folk block busting now back into the city.  I doubt seriously where that would ever take someone quite that.  We’d have to coin a new word for it.  But that’s what’s going on now.

The point is – and I don’t worry about that.  The point is keep the neighborhoods – the city’s responsibility is to keep all the streets up, all of them clean, all of them with police protection, all the people sanitation services, and let the folk alone.  

[0:45:58]

And you’ll find out that the folk are going to solve their own problems. Just going to disappear just overnight.  Just disappear.  And you have a feel of what some people are just going to sit around and complain.  But really they don’t represent nothing really in terms of the spirit.  The problem is that the political demagogy, both on the black side and the white side, is two people’s interests.  And we’re going to see it in the mayor’s race.  Just see the reason why a politician either have to quit.  Well, he demagogues racism.
Interviewer:
It’s too bad too.
A.W. Willis:
That’s unfortunate.  At some point folk got to rise up, go out, and do something.  Just move.  That’s what we’re going to have to do in all these neighborhoods, streets, and everything else.  And that’s – I recognize that it’s a whole lot easier said than done.  But the answer is plain as day, and it’s got a part in it.  And there’s no other way.  It’s just a matter of postponing misery.
[0:47:00]

You want to suffer here another 15 years?  Then that choice is all ours.  You want to get this mess over with and get it behind us and deal with some of the real issues, then that choice is equally ours.  And everybody has to make themselves committed and say I had enough.  It’s like Rosa Parks did in Montgomery.  I’m tired.  I ain’t going to move no more.  Y’all moved me to the back of the bus thirty years.  I ain’t going nowhere.  Do what you want to do.

And, you know, two years, and nobody worries about the bus.  I mean nobody, first come, first serve, you know.  Just all it took, one little lady saying I am tired.  In Memphis somebody is going to have to say I am sick and tired of all this foolishness and keeping views and playing around by the politicians, and we’re moved around like we’re pawns, and I’m just sick of this.

It don’t matter.  Just going to make you do a little more.  And I think folks are just about to that point where it just don’t matter.
Interviewer:
Well, thank you so much for all your insight.

A.W. Willis:
You’re welcome.
[End of Audio]  
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